RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

11-29-2017

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Appeal Case No. 2017AP001583-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS.

MARQUE D. CUMMINGS,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON NOTICE OF APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE ENTERED ON JULY 13, 2017, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE HANNAH DUGAN, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

John Chisholm District Attorney Milwaukee County

Karen A. Loebel Deputy District Attorney State Bar No. 1009740 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION2
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STANDARD OF REVIEW6
ARGUMENT7
I. BECAUSE THE INITIAL ENCOUNTER BETWEEN CUMMINGS AND POLICE WAS NOT A SEIZURE, NO CONSTITUTIONAL JUSTIFICATION WAS REQUIRED FOR THE CONTACT
II. AT THE TIME OF THEIR ENCOUNTER WITH CUMMINGS, OFFICERS POSSESSED THE REQUISITE REASONABLE SUSPICION NECESSARY TO STOP HIM
CONCLUSION
INDEX TO APPENDIX AND CERTIFICATION App. 100

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES CITED

Page
Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 434 (1991)8
<i>Gray v. State</i> , 243 Wis. 57, 9 N.W.2d 68 (1943)7
Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 120 S. Ct. 673 (2000)
State v. Anderson, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990)10, 11, 12
State v. Griffith, 2000 WI 72, 236 Wis. 2d 486, 613 N.W.2d 727
State v. Jackson, 147 Wis. 2d 824, 434 N.W.2d 386 (1989)
State v. Kelsey C.R., 2001 WI 54, 243 Wis. 2d 422, 626 N.W.2d 7778
State v. Knapp, 2005 WI 127, 285 Wis. 2d 86, 700 N.W.2d 899
State v. Macho, 2011AP001841-CR, (WI App. May 23, 2012) (unpublished)7
State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634
State v. Seibel, 163 Wis. 2d 164, 471 N.W.2d 226 (1991)11
State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 556 N.W.2d 68110, 11, 12

State v. Washington, 2005 WI App 123, 284 Wis. 2d 456, 700 N.W.2d 30511
State v. Williams, 2002 WI 94, 255 Wis. 2d 1, 646 N.W.2d 834
State v. Williamson, 58 Wis. 2d 514, 206 N.W.2d 613 (1973)12
State v. Young, 2006 WI 98, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W. 2d 7296, 7, 8, 9
Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868 (1968)7, 10
United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 100 S.Ct. 1870, 64 L.Ed.2d 497 (1980)8
United States v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 109 S. Ct. 1581 (1989)10
WISCONSIN STATUTES CITED
§ 961.41(3g)(e)2
OTHER AUTHORITIES CITED
Fourth Amendment
Wisconsin Constitution, Article 1, Section 117

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP001583-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff- Appellant,

VS.

MARQUE D. CUMMINGS,

Defendant- Respondent.

ON NOTICE OF APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE ENTERED ON JULY 13, 2017, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE HANNAH DUGAN, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did the initial contact between Cummings and police, before the warrant for Cummings's arrest was discovered, constitute a seizure under the 4th Amendment?

Trial court answered: The trial court did not make findings as to whether, and when, Cummings was seized under the Fourth Amendment. Implicitly, by ordering suppression, the trial court found that a seizure had occurred before the warrant was discovered.

2. Did the trial court err in determining that the officers lacked the requisite reasonable suspicion to seize Cummings?

Trial Court Answered: The trial court did not make specific findings, but, by ordering suppression of the evidence, implicitly ruled that the officers did not have reasonable suspicion to seize Cummings.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests neither oral argument nor publication. The briefs in this matter can fully present and meet the issues on appeal and fully develop the theories and legal authorities on those issues. *See* Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.22(1)(b). Further, as a matter to be decided by one judge, this decision will not meet the criteria for publication. *See* Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.23(1)(b)4.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 30, 2016, Marque D. Cummings was charged with possession of tetrahydrocannabinols (THC), contrary to Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(e), in Milwaukee County circuit court case number 16CM002516, as a result of an arrest made by Milwaukee police officers Joseph Lanza and Francisco Cartagena. (R1; App. 101-102) In very brief form, the complaint alleged that the officers had encountered Cummings on the street, determined that there was a felony warrant for his arrest from Ozaukee County for escape, searched Cummings incident to his arrest for that warrant, and found 23.84 grams of marijuana in the backpack he had with him. (*Id.*)

The case was assigned to Milwaukee County Circuit Court Branch 31, the Honorable Hannah Dugan, presiding. On May 2, 2017, Cummings filed a motion to suppress, alleging that the officers lacked the requisite reasonable suspicion to

2

_

¹ Officer Cartagena spelled his name "Cartagena" at the beginning of his testimony. (R22:20: App. 132) However, he is referred to as "Cartegena" throughout the transcript. (R22; App. 113-156)

conduct a stop of Cummings. (R9; App. 103-107) The State responded in writing, arguing that the contact between the officers and Cummings was not a seizure as defined by the Fourth Amendment, and—in the alternative—that if a seizure had occurred, it was lawful and supported by reasonable suspicion. (R10; App. 108-111). On June 12, 2017, a hearing was held on the motion. (R22; App. 113-156)

Officer Lanza and Officer Cartagena were the only witnesses at the suppression motion. They testified that on July 27, 2016, they were on duty as Milwaukee police officers, working in a marked squad car. (R22:6, 8; App. 118, 120) Officer Lanza was a newer officer; Officer Cartagena was his "field training officer," a more senior officer who was helping to make sure he got exposure to, and experience in, a variety of different police investigations. (R22:5-6; App, 117-118)

At about 2:25 a.m., the officers were in their squad car, pulled over to the curb, facing north, directly under a streetlight at the southeast corner of 15th and Greenfield, in Milwaukee. (R22:6-7, 8; App. 118-119, 120) They were simply keeping an eye on things: because the area of 15th and Greenfield is a high crime area, the officers would try to get over to the area, park, and observe the area. (R22:8; App. 120) The neighborhood around 15th and Greenfield was one of the officers' "busiest areas," (R22:10; App. 122) with particular problems related to prostitution, drug trafficking, gun shots fired, entries into cars (R22:9-10; App. 121-122), and robberies. (R22:24; App. 136) It was a warm night: Officer Lanza estimated it was 75 to 85 degrees out (R22:19; App. 131); Officer Cartagena, estimated that it was 80 degrees. (R22:28; App. 140)

At about 2:25 a.m., the officers observed the man they later identified as Cummings walking eastbound on Greenfield Avenue. (R22:7, 8, 12; App. 119, 120, 124) Cummings was wearing a hooded sweatshirt with the hood up over his head, which stood out because it seemed "awkward for the weather." (R22:7, 15, 19, 22; App. 119, 127, 131, 134) He also wore a bandana around his neck, with his chin tightly tucked into his chest. (R22:7; App. 119) The bandana covered the lower part of Cummings's face. (R22:14, 23, 27; App. 126, 135, 139) Officer Lanza indicated that it was covering, "about up to his

lower lip;" (R22:14; App. 126); Officer Cartagena described it as covering the bottom half of Cummings's face, so that he could not see Cummings's mouth. (R22:22-23; App. 134-135) Cummings was carrying a backpack. (R22:9, 24; App. 121, 136)

Officer Lanza observed that Cummings looked directly over at the squad car, then immediately "completely changed direction," turned left, heading north. (R22:7-8, App. 119-120)

After Cummings changed course, Officer Lanza turned the car on and drove across a little over a city block, to where Cummings was located. (R22:8-9; App. 120-121) The officers "just wanted briefly to speak with him, identify him and talk with him." (R22:9; App. 121) Specifically, Officer Lanza was concerned that there was possibly some criminal activity going on, given the time of night, the nature of the neighborhood, the fact that Cummings's clothing seemed out of place given the weather, the fact that he seemed to be trying to hide his face, and the fact that he seemed to immediately change direction as soon as he noticed the officers' presence. (R22:9-10, 15; App. 121-122, 127) Given the hour of night, the bandana that was covering the lower half of Cummings's face, and the fact that the area was known for robberies, Officer Cartagena was concerned that a robbery was about to occur. (R22:26-27; App. 138-139)

Officer Lanza pulled up to Cummings in an alley. (R22:8, 11) The officers did not remember whether the squad's emergency lights or siren were activated. (R22:13, 23; App. 125, 135). Both officers exited the squad car, and they spoke with Cummings at the front of the squad. (R22:10; App. 122) They did not touch him; they did not draw their weapons; and they did not order him to raise his hands. (R22:11; App. 123) They asked him his name, where he was going, and whether he was from the area. (R22:12; App. 124) They asked him to set his backpack on the ground, and Cummings did so. (R22:18; App. 130) In Officer Lanza's view, Cummings was free to leave, and the officers would have allowed him to leave if he had wished. (R22:15-16, 18; App. 127-128, 130)

Cummings provided his identification to the officers, (R22:26; App. 138) and Officer Cartagena ran that information through the computer. (*Id.*) The check came back that Cummings had a felony warrant outstanding for his arrest. (R22:12; App. 124) In Officer Cartagena's opinion, Cummings was free to leave until the warrant was discovered. (R22:18; App. 130) Once the warrant was discovered, the officers placed Cummings under arrest, searched his backpack incident to that arrest, and found 23 grams of marijuana in his backpack. (R22:12; App. 124) Before the warrant was discovered, one of the officers had asked Cummings for consent to search the backpack; he had refused, and the officers did not search it until after Cummings had been placed under arrest. (R22:17-18; App. 129-130)

At some point as Lanza and Cartagena were speaking to Cummings, two other officers arrived on scene. (R22:25; App. 137) At some point, Cummings was asked to put the contents of his pockets on the hood of the squad, (R22:25-26; App. 137-138) but the testimony did not establish whether those things occurred before or after the warrant was discovered. (R22:16-17, 26; App. 128-129, 138) The only contraband recovered was the marijuana found in Cummings's backpack. (R22:12; App. 124)

At the conclusion of the testimony and following arguments from the attorneys, Judge Dugan granted the defendant's motion to suppress. (R22:42; App. 154) Judge Dugan found that the officers' testimony was generally consistent, although there was a slight inconsistency in regard to how Cummings was wearing the bandana. (R22:41; App. 153) She also found that there was uncertainty as to whether the squad's emergency lights had been activated. (*Id.*) She found that the officers identified the area as a high crime area, and that Cummings was wearing a hooded sweatshirt and it, "might have seemed strange to have the hoody on in the heat and so forth." (R22:41; App. 153). She then ruled,

THE COURT: This also is not a wellness check. I heard one of the officers say that Mr. Cummings told him he was homeless. Therefore, given the totality of the circumstances and the fact that they did not -- there was not any testimony there was a concern about a crime had

been committed but they were concerned about might be committed without articulating any facts of what type of crime given that nobody was present in the area --

ATTORNEY SITZBERGER: Well

THE COURT: -- which distinguishes it from Matthews, I'm granting the Defense's motion.

ATTORNEY SITZBERGER: Judge, Officer Cartegena (sic) said he was afraid a robbery was about to occur. I asked him that directly because I knew the Court would have that concern.

THE COURT: Of whom? There's no particularized facts about that. He also said that the bandana was on the face which is inconsistent with the other officer's testimony

ATTORNEY SITZBERGER: Well one said it went up to below

THE COURT: I'm granting the Defendant's motion.

(R22:42; App. 154)

Judge Dugan entered a written order granting suppression on July 13, 2017. (R:13, App. 112) This appeal follows.

It is the State's position that Judge Dugan erred in granting Cummings's motion to suppress. The State argues, first, that the initial encounter between Cummings and the police did not constitute a seizure under the Fourth Amendment, and that Cummings was not seized for Fourth Amendment purposes until after the warrant was discovered. Second, the State believes that at the time of the initial contact, the officers possessed particularized facts which would have justified a seizure of Cummings.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether a person has been seized, and whether evidence should be suppressed as a result, are questions of constitutional fact. *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶17, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W. 2d 729. *State v. Knapp*, 2005 WI 127, ¶ 19, 285 Wis. 2d 86,

700 N.W.2d 899. The reviewing court will accept the circuit court's findings of evidentiary or historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous, but will determine independently whether or when a seizure occurred, and whether those facts constitute reasonable suspicion. *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 17, 717 N.W.2d 729.

ARGUMENT

I. BECAUSE THE INITIAL ENCOUNTER BETWEEN CUMMINGS AND POLICE WAS NOT A SEIZURE, NO CONSTITUTIONAL JUSTIFICATION WAS REQUIRED FOR THE CONTACT.

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect people from unreasonable searches and seizures.² Therefore, any analysis regarding whether the Fourth Amendment protections have been breached must begin with whether a search and seizure occurred. Because Fourth Amendment rights are personal rights which cannot be vicariously asserted, in litigating a motion to suppress, it is a defendant's obligation to establish that a seizure occurred. State v. Macho, 2011AP001841-CR, (WI App. May 23, 2012) (unpublished), citing Gray v. State, 243 Wis. 57, 63, 9 N.W.2d 68 (1943) (App. 157-162). If he or she does so, the burden shifts to the State to establish that the seizure was reasonable. See, Macho, 2011AP001841-CR, (WI App. May 23, 2012) (unpublished) (App. 159); see also State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶12, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634.

Because not all police-citizen contacts constitute a seizure, many such contacts do not fall within the safeguards afforded by the Fourth Amendment. *See Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 13, 88 S. Ct. 1868 (1968); *State v. Williams*, 2002 WI 94, ¶ 20, 255 Wis. 2d 1, 646 N.W.2d 834. The Supreme Court has repeatedly declined to hold that all questioning of

7

_

² Typically, this court interprets Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution in tandem with the Fourth Amendment jurisprudence of the United States Supreme Court. *State v. Griffith*, 2000 WI 72, ¶24, n. 10, 236 Wis. 2d 486, 613 N.W.2d 72.

individuals by police officers constitutes a seizure. *See Florida v. Bostick*, 501 U.S. 429, 434 (1991). Instead, a person is seized for the purposes of the Fourth Amendment only "when an officer, by means of physical force or show of authority, restrains a person's liberty." *State v. Kelsey C.R.*, 2001 WI 54, ¶ 30, 243 Wis. 2d 422, 626 N.W.2d 777. As applicable here, a seizure has occurred within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment only if, in view of all of the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would have believed that he was not free to leave. *United States v. Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544, 554, 100 S.Ct. 1870, 64 L.Ed.2d 497 (1980). That is, "[a]s long as a reasonable person would have believed he was free to disregard the police response and go about his business, there is no seizure[.]" *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 18, 717 N.W.2d 729.

Our Supreme Court has explained,

Mendenhall is the correct test "for situations whether the question is whether a person submitted to a police show of authority because under all the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would not have felt free to leave." If a reasonable person would have felt free to leave but the person at issue nonetheless remained in police presence, perhaps because of a desire to be cooperative, there is no seizure. As this court noted in Williams, "most citizens will respond to a police request," and "the fact that people do so, and do so without being told they are free not to respond, hardly eliminates the consensual nature of the response." Williams, 255 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 23 (quoting Delgado, 466 U.S. at 216).

Young, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 37, 717 N.W.2d 729.

Given that standard, the evidence adduced at the suppression hearing does not support a finding that Cummings was seized by the officers before the warrant was found.

The evidence at the hearing showed that officers Lanza and Cartagena saw a person they thought was suspicious under the particular circumstances; they drove a little over a block and stopped next to him in an alley. (R22:11; App. 123) The court did not make a finding that that the squad's emergency lights or siren had been turned on, (R22:41; App. 153) and there was no evidence that the officers blocked Cummings's

path or physically prevented him from walking on. The officers got out of the squad and spoke with Cummings. (R22:11; App. 123) They did not touch him; they did not draw their weapons; they did not order him to raise his hands. (R22:11; App. 123) There was no evidence that they issued any commands to him, ordered him to stop, or even *asked* him to stop. (R22; App. 113-156) They asked his name, where he was going, and whether he was from the area. (R22:12; App. 124) They asked Cummings to set his backpack on the ground, but there was no evidence that they touched it or took control of it until after he had been placed under arrest pursuant to the warrant (R22:17-18; App. 129-130), and they honored his refusal to give consent to search it until after the arrest. (*Id*.)

Essentially, the evidence established that the two officers drove up to Cummings and spoke with him. The testimony was devoid of evidence of any physical force or any show of authority, or any restraint on Cummings's liberty during that initial encounter. A reasonable person, under those circumstances, would have felt free to leave.

At some point, Cummings was asked to put the contents of his pockets on the hood of the squad car, (R22:25-26) but that cannot be held to have converted the consensual encounter into a seizure. First, the testimony did not establish, and the court did not find, that that happened before the warrant was discovered, or before the steps which led to its discovery had been undertaken. (R22:16-17, 26; App. 128-129, 138) Second, even if the warrant had not yet been discovered, or his name not yet provided to the officers, the testimony was that the officers asked Cummings to put the contents of his pockets on the hood of the squad, not that they demanded, ordered, or even instructed that he to do so. (R22:25-26; App. 137-138) As noted above, the fact that a person complies with an officer's request does not eliminate "the consensual nature of the response." Young, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 37, 717 N.W.2d 729.

Because Cummings was not seized by police before the warrant for his arrest was found, no Fourth Amendment justification was required for the encounter. The trial court therefore erred in finding that the officers needed—and lacked—reasonable suspicion for their contact with Cummings, and erred in granting the motion to suppress.

II. AT THE TIME OF THEIR ENCOUNTER WITH CUMMINGS, OFFICERS POSSESSED THE REQUISITE REASONABLE SUSPICION NECESSARY TO STOP HIM.

As argued above, the State asserts that Cummings was not seized under the Fourth Amendment until he was arrested on the outstanding warrant and that the officers did not, therefore, need reasonable suspicion for their contact with him. However, it is also the State's position that if their contact with Cummings is interpreted as a seizure, the officers possessed a reasonable suspicion that Cummings had engaged in, was engaging in, or was about to engage in criminal activity, as set forth in *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968).

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