RECEIVED

01-11-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP001583-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

MARQUE D. CUMMINGS,

Defendant-Respondent.

On Appeal from an Order Granting a Motion to Suppress Evidence in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Hannah Dugan, Presiding.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

ERIN K. DEELEY Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1084027

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 deeleye@opd.wi.gov

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

B. The State waived any argument that Mr. Cummings was not seized.

As an initial matter, the State asserts in its initial brief that Mr. Cummings failed to establish that a seizure occurred. (State's Brief at 7). However, the State conceded the issue of seizure in the trial court and cannot now levy this argument in the Court of Appeals. *See State v. Huebner*, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 10, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727 (issues that are not preserved generally are not considered on appeal).

Mr. Cummings filed a written motion to suppress in the trial court, alleging that he was seized without reasonable suspicion. (9). The State filed a written response that it anticipated the evidence at hearing to show that no seizure occurred, but if the court were to find seizure, then there was reasonable suspicion. (10:2-3). However, at the hearing, the State bypassed their written challenge to seizure, called the first witness, Officer Lanza. (23:4). Mr. Cummings called Officer Cartagena to testify only after the State rested. (23:21).

Then during argument, the State seemingly abandoned the seizure issue it referenced in its early written submission:

Judge, as I mentioned in my brief, though I don't know for certain whether this can even be considered a seizure under the Fourth Amendment with both officers not remembering whether they activated their lights and sirens, I think that's bit of a gray issue; so I won't argue strenuously that this was not even a seizure.

So if this Court is going to find that it was a seizure, which seems reasonable based on, again, not being sure whether the lights or sirens were activated, even for a short while, the officers simply need reasonable suspicion to believe that criminal activity may be in foot to stop somebody during an investigative stop[.]"

(23:30).

Nonetheless, Mr. Cummings made a prophylactic argument regarding why this interaction constituted a seizure, emphasizing the officers' "policy to turn the lights on," the fact that Mr. Cummings was required to put down his backpack, the presence of four officers, and the requirement that he empty his pockets on the hood of the squad car and then provide identification. (23:34-35, 38-39).

The State doubled-down in its abandonment of its seizure claim, and said in response "[w]ell, there was no contraband found in whatever items he may or may not have emptied out of his pockets onto the squad car; so that's really a moot point." (23:39). This response indicates that the State had again conceded the seizure issue and was only arguing the matter of reasonable suspicion. Mr. Cummings' discussion as to when the emptying of pockets occurred was levied only to demonstrate the intrusiveness of the interaction for purposes of establishing seizure, which the State bypassed as "completely irrelevant to the Court's decision" (23:39), and continued to argue the reasonable suspicion issue (23:40-41).

The State in its opening brief cited *State v. Macho*, 2011AP1841-CR (unpublished), for the proposition that it was Mr. Cummings' burden to establish that a seizure occurred before the burden can shift to the State to establish reasonableness. (State's Brief at 7). The State ignores the fact that at the trial court, it never meaningfully challenged the underlying question of seizure. It now seeks to reap the

benefit of unclear factual findings regarding the use of squad lights and the precise time in which Mr. Cummings was asked to empty his pockets onto the hood of the car—factual determinations that would have been important to the seizure analysis had the State pursued such a claim in the trial court. (State's Brief at 8-9). This they cannot do, and is exactly what the waiver rule was designed to prevent. *State v. Hayes*, 2004 WI 80, ¶ 21, 273 Wis. 2d 1, 681 N.W.2d 203 ("[f]ailure to raise an issue in the circuit court deprives both the adversary and the circuit court of the opportunity to address the issue and perhaps remedy the defect without the necessity of an appeal. The waiver rule encourages attorneys to prepare for and conduct trials more diligently and prevents attorneys from sandbagging adversary counsel and the circuit court.")

C. Mr. Cummings was nonetheless seized for purposes of the Fourth Amendment.

Even if this Court decides to reach the question of seizure, Mr. Cummings was seized for purposes of the Fourth Amendment. Under the totality of the circumstances, no reasonable person in Mr. Cummings' position would have believed that he was free to leave. *State v. Jones*, 2005 WI App 26, ¶21, 278 Wis. 2d 774, 693 N.W.2d 104.

A seizure for purposes of the Fourth Amendment occurs where an officer, "by means of physical force or show of authority, has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen[].]" *United States v. Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544, 552 (1980). The analysis contemplates whether a "reasonable person" would feel free to leave. *Id.* at 554. "As long as the person to whom the questions are put remains free to disregard the questions and walk away, there has been no intrusion upon that person's liberty or privacy as would under the Constitution require some particular and objective

justification." *Id.* The subjective intentions of the law enforcement officers are not determinative. *Id.* at 554, n. 6.

In this case, two police officers pulled their squad car into an alleyway to stop Mr. Cummings for questioning. (23:12). The trial court did not explicitly find that squad lights were used, but Officer Lanza testified that it is "common practice to switch on the light bar" to engage the squad camera when they engage with citizens. (29:10). The testimony resulted in the trial court implicitly finding that a seizure occurred, which is consistent with the trial court's ruling, and this Court should so find. *See Vogt*, 2014 WI 76, ¶ 41.

Mr. Cummings was separated from his personal property – both his backpack and his identification. Officers made Mr. Cummings put down his backpack so he could not access it. (23:18-19). Officers also obtained Mr. Cummings' identification card during the encounter. (23:27). See State v. **Daniel**, 12 S.W.3d 420, 427 (Tenn.2000) ("abandoning one's identification is simply not a practical or realistic option for a reasonable person in modern society"); State v. Armenta, 134 Wash.2d 1, 10, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997) (seizure occurred when police officer placed cash that defendant produced voluntarily into his patrol car); State v. Moralez, 297 Kan. 397, 408, 300 P.3d 1090 (2013) (abrogated on other grounds) (officer seized defendant when he "requested and took possession" of defendant's identification card "and then retained it while running a check for outstanding warrants"); United States v. Johnson, 326 F.3d 1018, 1022 (8th Cir.2003) (suspect was seized, as officer "took possession of his personal property here, his driver's license[.]")

Finally, officers had Mr. Cummings empty his pockets on the hood of the squad car. The State argues that the testimony "did not establish, and the court did not find, that that happened before the warrant was discovered[.]" (State's Brief at 9). However, the testimony reasonably supports a conclusion that this occurred prior to the search incident to arrest. Officer Lanza agreed at one point that this occurred prior to receiving "the signal" from Officer Cartagena that Mr. Cummings had a warrant. (23:17). He then later testified that he did not recall if they had Mr. Cummings empty his pockets before or after the discovery of a supposed warrant. (23:18). Officer Cartagena agreed that officers had Mr. Cummings empty his pockets during questioning but could not remember "the exact details." (23:27).

Practically speaking, it is unlikely that officers would have had Mr. Cummings empty his own pockets *after* discovery of the supposed warrant. Upon learning of this supposed warrant, officers searched Mr. Cummings' backpack themselves as a search incident to arrest. The State would have this Court assume that, even with this apparent basis for a search incident to arrest, four officers then nonetheless had Mr. Cummings empty his own pockets, rather than conduct the search themselves. Further, the trial court implicitly found a seizure occurred, so Mr. Cummings again asks this Court to assume findings that are consistent with the trial court's ruling. *See Vogt*, 2014 WI 76, ¶ 41.

Where police stopped Mr. Cummings on the street, obtained his identification, made him set down his backpack for the express purpose of making it so he was not able to retrieve it, and then made him empty his pockets onto the hood of their squad car in the presence of four officers, he was not free to leave. As such, the stop of Mr. Cummings constitutes a seizure for Fourth Amendment purposes.

D. Officers did not have reasonable suspicion to suspect Mr. Cummings of any criminal activity, and therefore the seizure was in violation of the Fourth Amendment.

The State argues that Mr. Cummings' apparel in the context of the weather, the time of night, the neighborhood, and his "changed direction" satisfied the reasonable suspicion standard. (State's Brief at 11). The State's argument fails because it amounts to only an "inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch," lacking any individualized suspicion as to Mr. Cummings. *See Waldner*, 206 Wis.2d 51, ¶ 56.

Mr. Cummings' presence in a high-crime neighborhood alone did not create reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. Nor did his presence in such a neighborhood render his otherwise normal and legal behavior suspicious. The trial court found as much and suppressed the misdemeanor amount of marijuana that officers found in his backpack. This Court should do the same.

In *State v. Diggins*, 2013 WI App 105, ¶ 3, 349 Wis. 2d 787, 837 N.W.2d 177 (unpublished decision) (App. 101-108), officers drove past Diggins, who was wearing "all black," and a companion, who was wearing lighter clothes. The men were leaning against the exterior wall of a gas station. *Id.* The officers drove past the two men a few times, observed that they stood there for about five minutes, and concluded the men were loitering. *Id.* The officers said that the gas station was in a "high crime area" and that "subjects [that] are usually dressed like that ... are either committing armed robberies or ... dealing drugs." *Id.* When the marked squad car arrived, Diggins and his companion walked to the opposite side of the street, and the officer testified it was his "impression" that Diggins saw the squad car before moving

across the street. Id., ¶ 4. As two additional officers approached, officers conducted a field interview "to see if [Diggins] was [..] legally in the area, not committing any crimes or about to commit any crimes." Id.

This Court ruled that "standing for five minutes while doing nothing in a place to which the public is invited, while wearing black clothing, and then moving to another equally public place, even in a high crime area, is not a basis for a *Terry* stop." *Id.*, ¶ 17. The officers' experience and opinion regarding how Diggins was dressed, without more, was not enough to establish reasonable suspicion of a crime. *Id.*, ¶ 23. There were no complaints or concerns that anyone in the vicinity had "cause for alarm," and this Court noted the absence of a factual finding that Diggins' walk across the street to the bus stop was indicative of flight. *Id.* ¶ 13-14. This Court emphasized that "[m]ore than mere presence (*i.e.*, hanging out) in a public place is required for reasonable suspicion that criminal activity is afoot." *Id.*, ¶ 15.

In *Gordon*, 353 Wis. 2d 468, ¶ 2-4, officers were driving in a marked squad car around 11:00 p.m. when they saw defendant Gordon and two friends walking. The area was an "area of high crime" with "a lot of gun violence"—two days earlier a woman was shot in her car. *Id.*, ¶¶ 3, 9. Officers testified that Gordon looked "nervous" and made a "security adjustment" after recognizing police. *Id.*, ¶ 4. Officers approached Gordon and his friends and said "[h]ey guys. Can we see your hands?" *Id.* at 473.

² He touched the "outside of his pocket' with the palm of his hands," interpreted as a conscious or unconscious response to police presence that may indicate the suspect is carrying weapon. *Id.*, \P 4

This Court found that the purported grounds for the stop - (1) the high-crime area, (2) Gordon's recognition of a police presence and subsequent (3) "security check – "[did] not equal the requisite objective reasonable suspicion that criminal activity by Gordon was afoot." Id. at 478-79 (emphasis added)(internal quotations omitted). In evaluating the "high crime area" factor, this Court emphasized that "[a]n individual's presence in an area of expected criminal activity, standing alone, is not enough to support a reasonable, particularized suspicion that the person is committing a crime." Id. citing Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 124 (2000). This Court also found that the "security adjustment," standing alone, could not support individualized suspicion. Id. Further, the "recognition of 'police presence" was similarly irrelevant, given that it "would be in almost every case where police executed a *Terry* stop." *Id*.

As in *Diggins* and *Gordon*, the State argues "[t]his all occurred, in an area which the officers knew to have a high prevalence of criminal activity, including robberies." (State's Brief at 12). As this Court reiterated in *Gordon*, 353 Wis. 2d 468, ¶ 15, that factor "has the tendency to condemn a whole population to police intrusion that, with the same additional facts, would not happen in other parts of our community." That is precisely what we see here, as the State asks this Court to characterize wholly legal and innocuous behavior as though it indicates potential criminal activity on the part of Mr. Cummings, just by virtue of the neighborhood he was walking in.

As the trial court found, Mr. Cummings did not flee (23:42), and there is no other physical response or "security adjustment" that the State points to. The State attempts to characterize Mr. Cummings' turn at an intersection as nefarious, stating that "unprovoked flight from officers can,

alone, constitute the requisite suspicion to conduct a [] stop" and further describes the turn as "unusual." (State's Brief at 11). Mr. Cummings did not reverse direction and he did not quicken his pace. *He turned left at a street corner*. To try and characterize this everyday action taken by many as indicative of a crime is unreasonable. Even if Mr. Cummings noticed a police presence, this Court in *Gordon* found that recognition of police presence without flight is of no consequence. 353 Wis. 2d 468, ¶ 16.

As for his clothing, Mr. Cummings was walking wearing more clothing than officers felt were necessary given the weather.³ Mr. Cummings was wearing a hooded sweatshirt and bandana around his neck that may have partially obstructed his face – but as *Diggins* reflects, clothing alone is not enough to create an individualized reasonable suspicion. This court went so far as to say that it was an "extraordinary conclusion" that Diggins' clothing in the context of that time of night in that particular neighborhood was necessarily indicative of a crime. *Id.*, \P 23. Just as in *Diggins*, without more, Mr. Cummings' clothing is indicative of nothing. See also State v. Matthews, 2011 WI App 92, ¶¶ 11-14, 334 Wis. 2d 455, 799 N.W.2d 911 (this Court found reasonable suspicion where defendant was walking late at night in a high-crime area and wearing a ski mask and hooded sweatshirt, but there was the additional factor that officers observed the defendant have an "unusual interaction" with a female who walked by him, looked twice over her shoulder

³ As the officer testified, Mr. Cummings ultimately explained that he was homeless, which certainly would explain why he was not at home at that time of night, and why he was carrying a backpack and wearing extra clothing. (23:13).

with a "worried" look on her face, who the defendant then began walking after).

Here, as the trial court found, there were insufficient facts to conclude that Mr. Cummings was about to commit, had committed, or was committing a criminal offense. This Court should uphold the trial court's ruling. ⁴

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